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PROJECT LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The Homewood Village Resorts Project is located on the west shore of Lake Tahoe, west of McKinney Bay, just north of the Placer County line, in the community of Homewood, California. It is situated on the west side of State Route 89, about six miles south of Tahoe City (Figure 1). The present Homewood Ski Resort includes 1,260 acres of privately owned land (with 56 runs and eight lifts) in Placer County.  The property is made up of 20 contiguous parcels (Table 1) surrounded on the east by the community of Homewood, which consists of residences, a post office, and several small businesses.  The remainder of the surrounding property is undeveloped forestland administered by the U.S. Forest Service.  

The proposed project is located in the south half of Section 1 and the southeast quarter of Section 2 of Township 14 North, Range 16 East, MDBM (SE ¼ and SW ¼, Sec. 1 and SE ¼, Sec. 2), as depicted on the Homewood, Calif. Quadrangle, at a base elevation of about 6240 feet (Figure 2, USGS 1992). The project Area of Potential Effects (APE) includes the North Base, South Base, and Mid-Mountain areas (Figure 3).  

In September of 2008 Foothill Resources, Ltd., was contracted by Hauge Brueck Associates, of Sacramento, California, to perform historical and architectural resource studies for the proposed Homewood Village Resorts Project. Architectural historian Judith Marvin documented and evaluated all features, structures, and sites within the project in accordance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation act, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), and the Tahoe Regional Planning Agency’s (TRPA) Section 29 standards. Three buildings older than 50 years of age were recorded and evaluated (see Appendix A for California Department of Parks and Recreation 523 forms). None appeared eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places or California Register of Historical Resources.
RESEARCH METHODS

Documentary Research

Archival and oral-history research for the project overview and specific site history was conducted by Judith Marvin.  Research for this evaluation was conducted in the files of Susan Lindstrőm and Carol Van Etten, in previously published materials relating to the area, in the offices of the Placer County Recorder and Assessor, and with informants with knowledge about the project area. Please see the References Cited and Consulted section for a complete listing.  
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Figure 1. Project vicinity. 
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Figure 2. Project location (USGS Homewood, CA 7.5-minute quadrangle, 1992). 
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Figure 3.  General Map of Homewood Village Resorts North Base Project Area of Potential Effects.

Field Methods

On 26 September 2008 and 21 September 2009 architectural historian Judith Marvin conducted architectural resources surveys of the North and South Base APEs.  The three buildings at the North Base are over 50 years of age and were recorded on California Department of Parks and Recreation Record forms (DPR 523).  The buildings at the South Base (Tahoe Ski Bowl) were constructed post-1960 and were not recorded for this report.  


HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Lake Tahoe

Located in Placer and El Dorado counties in California and Douglas and Washoe counties and Carson City in the state of Nevada, Lake Tahoe is situated at an elevation of 6,228 feet in the Central Sierra Nevada.  Traditionally, the area was home to the Washoe tribe for many centuries.  The first non-Native American known to have viewed the lake was John C. Frémont, passing through Alpine County on his way to California in 1844, who gained the first view from a lofty summit in February of that year.  Frémont named the lake Bonpland, for a noted French explorer and botanist, Aimé Bonpland.  The official mapmaker of the new state of California named it Lake Bigler in 1853, after John Bigler, the third governor of California, and it appeared on subsequent maps under that sobriquet.  In 1862, however, through the successful efforts of William Henry Knight, the more appropriate Washoe name for the lake, “Tahoe” (meaning “big water,” “high water,” or “water in a high place”), was adopted and used on the first general map of the Pacific States, published by Bancroft Publishing House in that year.  

It was precious metals that provided the impetus for most of the visitors to the Tahoe Basin.  The discovery of gold on the American River in January of 1848 spurred would-be miners and entrepreneurs from “the States” and virtually every country in the world to rush to the rich gravel bars on the rivers and tributaries of the Sierra Nevada foothills.  The movement that ensued has been called one of the greatest mass migrations in human history, as thousands poured into the region in search of the elusive metal.  Many of the argonauts who came overland to the gold fields crossed the Sierra via Lake Tahoe, traveling either the Scott Route (later the Placer County Emigrant Road) on the north shore of the lake, or the Placerville Road along the south shore.  

Early development at the lake, however, was precipitated by the discovery of silver on the Comstock Lode in Nevada ca. 1858. The rich placer diggings in the California gold country had been played out and that area was experiencing a depression; disillusioned gold miners moved on to the Comstock strike, again passing by Lake Tahoe on their way. The rich forest reserves of the Lake Tahoe basin were tapped to provide timbers for the ever-deepening mines around Virginia City and for the construction of homes and commercial enterprises in the surrounding communities.  

While the major timber companies were located on the Nevada side of the lake (the Carson and Tahoe Lumber and Fluming Company at Glenbrook and the Sierra Nevada Wood and Lumber Company at Crystal Bay), other smaller operations were developed along the north shores of the lake during the boom period between 1860 and the 1890s.  By the late 1890s the forests had been logged out and the companies ceased operations.  

Soon after the loggers, however, came the recreationists, men who saw the possibilities of Lake Tahoe as a pleasure and health resort.  Fishing and hunting were the earliest recreational pursuits, soon followed by boating, bathing in the hot springs, swimming, and, eventually, gambling on the Nevada shore.  The first permanent settlements were at the mouth of McKinney Creek, Ward Creek, Glenbrook, and Tahoe City, where the Tahoe House was erected in 1864. When the Central Pacific Railroad reached Truckee in 1869, a wagon road was constructed to the lake and the tourism boom was on.  

Resorts were established at Lake Tahoe as fashionable summer retreats for the well-to-do. Some of the earliest resorts on the California side of the lake included the Lake House at Al Tahoe, Rubicon Point Lodge, Grand Hotel at Tahoe City, and the Bellevue Hotel at Sugar Pine Point. After the turn of the 20th century, when Tahoe had become more accessible due to the completion of the Tahoe Railway, which connected Truckee with Tahoe City, tourism boomed and additional resorts were constructed. Two of these, E. J. Baldwin’s Tallac and the Bliss family’s Tahoe Tavern in Tahoe City, were extremely luxurious for their time.  

Transportation

Due to the inadequacy of the roads in the Tahoe Basin, most travelers to the lakeshore resorts and cabins traveled to their destinations by steamer or sailboat, primarily the Governor Stanford and the Tahoe, each of which followed a set schedule, making stops at Glenbrook, Tallac, Emerald Bay, Carnelian Bay, and Brockway (Woodward Architectural Group 1993:44).  

With the advent of the automobile in the 20th century, the need for good roads became imperative. Increasing pressure from travelers and tourists, coupled with the passage of the Federal-Aid Road Act in 1916, provided the impetus for the State of California to upgrade the roads into the Tahoe Basin.  Finally, the road ringing Lake Tahoe, the Brockway Highway, was completed in 1931. During the mid-1930s the Lincoln and Victory coast-to-coast highways had been completed and the Lincoln Highway (present U.S. 50) became the major access to the basin. All the roads connecting Lake Tahoe to Nevada and California had been paved by 1930 and by the mid-1930s the passable auto route had been improved around the lake (Woodward Architectural Group 1993:44-45). 

The development of a viable transportation corridor around Lake Tahoe, coupled with the popularity of the automobile, was to forever alter the character of the basin. The region was now readily accessible to the general public, including the middle class, who created another rush to the area to camp, build modest cabins, and utilize the lakeshore for numerous forms of recreation. From the beginnings of tourism in the basin, however, the lakeshore was utilized almost exclusively during the summer months, with resorts and cabins opened on Memorial Day and shuttered on Labor Day.  

In recent years, however, the Tahoe Basin has seen increasing use during the winter months, especially since the development of Squaw Valley for the Winter Olympic Games in 1960, and the subsequent construction or improvement of numerous other ski resorts. Small, family-oriented, rustic cabins have given way to modern year-around subdivisions, the remodeling of older structures, and the demolition of many others, as present-day lake dwellers increase the size and usage of their properties.

Homewood

Homewood is located on a portion of the Placer County land purchased by Thomas McConnell from an early homesteader, possibly Hampton Blackwood. In 1868 McConnell bought 388 acres of land stretching from north of Eagle Rock to one-quarter mile south of Homewood, doubling his acreage in 1873, eventually owning two miles of lakefront property. In 1880 he began selling off tracts of land at Blackwood Creek, while the property surrounding his home, “Lake House,” became known as Idlewild, an exclusive residential section of Tahoe during the summer (Scott 1957:64-65).  

Located on the west shore of Lake Tahoe between Chambers Lodge on the south and Idlewild on the north, a “Homewood” district was laid out in 1889 on each side of what is now State Route 89. Lots, 100 feet wide, were laid out and advertised for $50 each, but did not sell. The lots were finally given away to anyone who would build a substantial home on the lot. A post office was established on July 31, 1909, but a letter dated in May of the following year noted that the postmaster at McKinney’s (Chambers Lodge) was to supply Homewood. By that time several families were in residence, including Ed and Dr. Etta Farmer, Senator Voorhees, Adolph Mueller, “Peg Leg” Saunders (owner of the water company), the Prentiss family, the Holabirds, and the Blacks (Scott 1957:73, 476; 1973:310).

Commerce.  In 1910 the Hotel Homewood was completed by Annie and Arthur C. Jost of Woodland, California, and a small pier was constructed. In 1915 it was described as a comparatively new resort, but popular and successful, with hot and cold water in all the rooms.  The resort also rented cottages (built by Matt Green of Tahoe City), with two and three rooms, as well as single and double tents with board floors and carpets. The bathing beach was noted as safe for adults and children, with a powerboat for excursions and a fleet of rowboats and fishing boats. Old-fashioned music was played at an open-air dancing platform, and a nightly campfire with song and story was provided (James 1915:232). The place was advertised as “Homewood, All the Name Implies,” the name perhaps derived from the fact that “it was homey in the woods” (Huff 1984:9).  

A few seasons later the Josts added a large casino and dance floor, also built by Matt Green, across the road from the hotel. Arthur Jost died in the early 1920s and Annie continued to operate the hotel until it was purchased by Mr. and Mrs. Donald Huff, acquaintances from Woodland, in 1938. The couple renovated the property and added on to it, making it a comfortable family resort (Scott 1957:73). A newspaper account in 1939 noted that the Huffs were remodeling at a cost of $10,000, adding a lakeside dining room and cocktail lounge, as well as additional rooms, outdoor dining quarters, and kitchen (Tahoe Tattler, June 30, 1939). During the tenure of the Huffs, the resort comprised a hotel and assorted cabins and tents, as well as 20 acres of lakefront land (Huff 1984).  

In the early 1960s the Huffs sold the property to Helen Alrich, whose family had interests in the Blake, Moffitt & Towne paper company. Because it was deemed unsafe, the original Homewood Hotel was demolished the following year. After Mrs. Alrich unsuccessfully attempted to develop condominiums on the property, the lakefront property of the old Homewood Resort was sold in 1980 to Nate Topal, who developed the “Villas at Harborside” and the West Shore Café on the site (Huff 1984; McBride 2007).  

Another tourist enterprise in the late 1920s was “El Campo,” a campground operated by “Old Bill” Johnson, a market hunter, commercial fisherman, and blacksmith from Sacramento. About the same time, it was noted that George McConnell was a resident, whose father Thomas (of Idlewild) “once owned all of Homewood.” The McConnell residence, a charming gable-roofed shingle dwelling built in 1911, is extant and located at 5240 West Lake Boulevard.  

Summer resident Walter Hobart, Jr. built an “ugly red boathouse,” with a second-floor of sumptuously furnished rooms, on the shoreline, also in the 1920s (Van Etten 2007).  This building is extant and is now part of the Obexer Boatyard complex (Jimmy Lane, personal communication 2009).  

The 1930s were the boom years for the Homewood area, as the advent of the automobile, and the completion and improvement of the road around Lake Tahoe, had made the area more readily accessible for families from the Sacramento and San Francisco Bay areas. The first store, established by Ed Farmer, was sold to J.P. “Jake” Obexer in 1922, and in 1936 the new Obexer’s Market was advertised as open for business. It included a modern sanitary meat market, Standard Oil Products, Gar Wood Boats, Golden State Dairy Products, S & W Groceries, fresh fruits and vegetables, Loynds Drug Store (with a complete stock of choice wines and liquors at city prices), and Mrs. J. Christie’s beauty parlor (Tahoe Tattler 1936). With all these amenities, no one now needed to fear leaving home for the summer. Another popular attraction was the English Village, known later as Swiss Lakewood, built in the early 1930s by the W.F. Mantifiel family, one of the few resorts to operate all year round (Truckee Republican, April 20, 1933).  

Fire and ice took their toll on Homewood’s buildings in the early years of the 20th century.  The Homewood Casino was leveled by snow in the winter of 1936, and Ben Callender subsequently used the timbers to build “The Hut” at Willowood Camp, advertised in 1939 as having modern cabins, good food, good drinks, good times, and dancing (Tahoe Tattler, June 30, 1939). It burned in the winter of 1955.  

A fire also wiped out a section of “Jake” Obexer’s new marine pier, but it was rebuilt by the Standard Oil Company, a partner in its construction. That same year, the “Hunter’s Lodge,” on the outskirts of Homewood, collapsed under heavy snows in March without ever opening for business (Scott 1957:74), but the cabins lived on (Van Etten 2007). In more recent years, Obexer’s Quonset hut boat storage building, erected in 1954, collapsed in a 1983 snowstorm. Two of the extant buildings at Obexer’s were built in the 1920s and 1930s, the oldest commercial complex in Homewood.   

Residential.  In the early 1900s, agents Wiseman, Wullf & Co. and H.G. Mac Masters, of Sacramento, with residences in Homewood, published a map of McConnell’s Addition to Lakeside (Figure 4), depicting 300 lots for sale, each measuring 105 x 198 feet and selling for $250 to $400. All the streets were laid out at this time, from north to south:  Fern, Oak, Trout, Silver, Fawn, and South. The Lakeside Tract brochure noted that the tract had all the modern conveniences, including a new pier, post office, store, etc., as well as a perfect climate, grand scenery, excellent fishing, bathing, and rowing in the finest and purest water in the world. The tract was accessed by the steamer Tahoe, on its first regular stopping point after leaving the Tahoe Tavern (Lakeside Tract Brochure, n.d.).  

The land was subdivided by Thomas McConnell, a sheep rancher from Elk Grove, and all were sold by 1913 (Saner 1987:2). Lots began to be developed in the early 1900s, but with seasonal use only. Many of the original families hailed from Woodland, Folsom, and the Sacramento area. Most accommodations were rustic cabins and cottages, with a predominant use of local natural materials, but some accommodations were only temporary tents.  

The names of those who resided in Homewood in the early years included the James and Martha McLaughlin family and their five daughters (he built the Ahwahnee Hotel in Yosemite and the St. Francis Hotel in San Francisco). Others were the MacMasters, Holabird, Prentiss, Skinner, Miller, Saunders, Shurtleff, Best, Capt, Mumford, Murphy, and the previously noted Mantifiel, Callender, Mueller, Hobart, Johnston, Voorhees, Bruener, Holland, McConnell, Mr. and Dr. Farmer (who had a store), Dr. Fussell, Mrs. Elliott, Bush, Jennings, Patterson, Hackes, Mull, and Obexer families, as well as the locally infamous Ed Cole (Hardy, personal communication 1988; Hartshorne, personal communication 1988; Saner, personal communication 1987).  

Summer activities included hiking and swimming, as well as trips to Meeks Bay for swimming, ice cream, dancing, and movies. Others would travel farther afield to partake of the amenities at Bijou or Tahoe City, while nearby Chambers Lodge (McKinney’s), Pomin’s, and Tahoma were also popular destinations.  

When interviewed in later years, early day residents recalled visits from various Washoe who resided near Minden, Nevada, in the winter and returned to their village near Homewood in the summer.  The women did laundry for summer residents, collected pine nuts, and made baskets to be sold locally.  Names recalled were Pete and Annie, Captain Pete and Daisy, and others (Hardy 1988, Saner 1987).  

Many lots were combined to make larger parcels. Of the original summer homes at Homewood, only about 20 retain their integrity to their period of significance (1900-1950), with over 75% of the residences either remodeled or newly constructed.
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	Figure 4.  McConnell’s Addition to Lakeside, ca. 1900.


North Base Project Area

The land in the North Base area, including Lots 112 and 113 of the Lakeside Tract, were part of the old Homewood Resort property. The Homewood Resort dance hall was originally located on these parcels, but when it was demolished in a snowstorm, the Huffs replaced it with a combination clothing store, gift shop, beauty salon, barber shop, and Union 76 gasoline station on the site (Huff 1984:10, Rick Brown, personal communication 2009). According to the Placer County Assessor’s Office, the store building was erected in 1947, and is now occupied as the ski lodge.  
In 1962, Ron Rupp, an employee of the Huffs, set up a rope tow at what would become Homewood Mountain Resort. Shortly thereafter, all of the Homewood Resort property was purchased by Helen Alrich, who developed the Homewood Ski Resort with Rupp (Rick Brown, personal communication 2009). In 1987 Mrs. Alrich purchased the Tahoe Ski Bowl area to the south, developed in the 1960s by the Kettenhoffen family, and operated the two as Homewood Mountain Resort. In 1998 the entire resort was purchased by the Jeff Yurosek family (LLC), who owned a pistachio farm in Southern California (McBride 1998).  

Interestingly, the oldest building on the property, the ski school building, ca. 1938, was moved to the site from the old Callender Hotel property. Located to the south, on the corner of Fawn and West Lake Shore Boulevard, the building was one of the Callender “Honeymoon Cottages” (Rick Brown, personal communication 2009).

Unfortunately, the economic viability of the resort by that time was less than ideal due to the age and condition of the lifts, lodges, and other facilities, and the resort continued to lose money yearly. In mid-2006, the current owners, Homewood Village Resorts, LLC (Art Chapman, president), purchased the property from Jeff Yurosek and began evaluating the existing resort and its facilities with an eye to redevelopment of the resort to improve its prospects.




REGULATORY CONTEXT

The primary purpose of this historical study is to document and evaluate all historical features, structures, and sites within the project area to determine their eligibility for listing in the National Register of Historic Places (NRHP), the California Register of Historical Resources (CRHR), and according to Tahoe Regional Planning Agency’s (TRPA) Section 29 standards.

Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act

The Section 106 process of the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) follows a series of steps that are designed to identify interested parties, determine the area of potential effects (APE), conduct cultural resource inventories, evaluate the significance of identified properties within the APE, and assess adverse effects on historic properties. In the event that historic properties occur within the APE, the Section 106 process is generally completed with the signing of an agreement document to resolve adverse effects.  The NHPA requires that federal agencies give the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation an opportunity to comment on the effects of an undertaking on historic properties. The steps in the process are described in the 36 CFR Part 800 regulations that implement the NHPA. 

Native American tribes are participants in the Section 106 process.  The regulations require federal agencies to consult with federally recognized tribes to determine if sites of religious or cultural significance are present within the APE for a specific action.  Non-federally recognized tribes may also have concerns, and such tribes participate as interested members of the public pursuant to 36 CFR Part 800.2(d).

National Register of Historic Places Criteria.  Historic properties are cultural resources that are listed or have been found eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places based upon criteria found at 36 CFR Part 60.4.  In general, historic properties must be at least 50 years old, retain integrity, and meet at least one of the following criteria:

A)  represent an important historic theme;


B)  be associated with an important person;


C)  illustrate a distinctive type of architecture or design; or 


D)  yield information important in history or prehistory.

California Environmental Quality Act

The purpose of CEQA is to compel government at all levels to make decisions with environmental consequences in mind. CEQA criteria of significance are the means of determining whether a site is a historical resource. In general, CEQA provides protection to historical resources and to archaeological resources that are important or unique and that retain integrity.

An “important archaeological resource” must meet one or more of the CEQA criteria. A “unique archaeological resource” must qualify under one of the first three CEQA criteria (Public Resources Code Section 21083.2(g)). 

California Register of Historical Resources Criteria.  For the purposes of CEQA, the criteria of significance specified in Section 15064.5 are one means of determining whether a site is a historical resource. The criteria are modeled upon guidelines established by the National Register of Historic Places. To be eligible for listing on the CRHR, a significant cultural resource is one which:

1. Is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of California’s history and cultural heritage;

2. Is associated with the lives of persons important in our past;

3. Embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, region, or method of construction, or represents the work of an important creative individual, or possesses high artistic values; or

4. Has yielded, or may be likely to yield, information important in prehistory or history.

Public Resources Code Section 21084.1, which is part of CEQA, provides additional guidelines for the designation and additional protection of cultural resources classified as “historical resources.” Resources that must be treated as “historical” are:

· Those resources listed in, or determined to be eligible for listing in, the California Register of Historical Resources;

· Those resources presumed to be historical in the absence of a preponderance of evidence indicating otherwise and that may be included in a local register of historical resources, as defined in Public Resources Code section 5020.1(k);

· Those resources deemed significant pursuant to criteria set forth in Public Resources Code Section 5024.1(g); and/or

· Those cultural resources that an agency, going beyond the minimum call of statutory duty, has freely chosen to consider “historical.”

Tahoe Regional Planning Agency (TRPA) 

In compliance with federal and state significance criteria, the Tahoe Regional Planning Agency (TRPA) has also adopted guidelines to determine the significance of cultural properties within the Lake Tahoe Basin as follows:

29.5A  Resources Associated with Historically Significant Events and Sites: Resources shall exemplify the broad cultural, political, economic, social, civic, or military history of the region, the state, or the nation, or be associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of history, including regional history. Such resources shall meet one or more of the following criteria:

(1) Associated with an important community function in the past;

(2) Associated with a memorable happening in the past; or

(3) Contain outstanding qualities reminiscent of an early stage of development in the region.

29.5B  Resources Associated with Significant Persons: Resources that are associated with the lives of persons significant in history, including regional history, include:

(1) Buildings or structures associated with a locally, regionally, or nationally known person;

(2) Notable examples, or best surviving works, of a pioneer architect, designer, or master builder; or

(3) Structures associated with the life or work of significant persons.

29.5C  Resources Embodying Distinctive Characteristics: Resources that embody the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of construction, that possess high artistic values, or that represent a significant and distinguishable entity but whose components may lack individual distinction, are eligible. Works of a master builder, designer, or architect also are eligible. Resources may be classified as significant if they are a prototype of, or a representative example of, a period style, architectural movement, or method of construction unique in the region, the states, or the nation.

29.5D  State or Federal Guidelines: Archaeological or paleontological resources protected, or eligible for protection, under state or federal guidelines, are eligible.

29.5E  Prehistoric Sites: Sites where prehistoric archaeological or paleontological resources, which may contribute to the basic understanding of early cultural or biological development in the region are eligible.

Significant cultural resources are also acknowledged on a number of local registers. Eligibility criteria for the historical registers generally incorporate the basic tenets of criteria established in the NRHP and the CRHR. However, these criteria have been modified in order to include a broader range of resources that better reflect the history of California at the local level. For example, the State Historic Landmarks Program and the Points of Historic Interest Program also recognize buildings, sites, and objects of local or statewide importance.


FINDINGS AND EVALUATIONS

Judith Marvin visited the project area on 26 and 27 September 2008 and recorded the architectural resources within the North Base Project Area, with a return visit on 21 September 2009 to survey the South Base Project Area. Three architectural resources were identified within the North Base Project APE (see Appendix A for DPR 523 forms):

1)
Homewood Resort Ski Lodge 

2) Ski School Building

3) Ski Patrol Hut

The buildings at the South Base (Tahoe Ski Bowl) were constructed post-1960 and were not recorded. 

Resource Descriptions

Ski Lodge.  This is a two-story frame building with at least two major additions and a compound plan.  Built as a barbershop, clothing store, gift shop, and beauty salon, the original structure (ca. 1947) appears to have been a one and one-half story cross-gabled building, with steeply pitched roofs and exposed rafters.  A two-story frame addition, with side-gabled roof, was added on the west rear elevation in the 1960s or later. The roofs on the primary east façade are steeply pitched and covered with composition shingles.  The two-story rear addition has a shed roof, and the walls are clad in vertically patterned plywood (T-111) siding.  The walls on the south section and central core are clad in horizontal board siding, with vertical dogtooth boards in the gable end. Fenestration on the lower floor consists of large storefront windows, with aluminum sash on the second story, and original 1/1 light frame sash, double-hung, on the south elevations. A small upper-story porch on the south elevation features a railing with Tyrolean motif, while a cupola graces the top of the front-gabled section.  The building is in excellent condition, but lacking in integrity of design, materials, setting, feeling, and association.

Ski School Building.  This is a small, single-story, one-room ski school building with a front gable and rectangular plan. It was originally built as a “honeymoon cottage” in the Callender Hotel complex, located on the corner of Fawn and West Lakeshore Boulevard, built ca. 1938, and was moved to the site in the 1960s. The building features a bell tower (with bell) with pyramidal roof, and a horizontal louvre in the gable ends. The roof has exposed rafter tails and is covered with wood shingles. The walls are clad in vertical board and batten siding. Primary access is via wide board steps to the front door, which frame with one light. A single-light fixed window pierces the primary east elevation, while a 1/1-light frame sash, double-hung, window is located on the north elevation.  Windows on the south elevation consist of a frame window with one light and an aluminum slider.  A rear addition on the west elevation has an intersecting gable roof, covered with metal, and the walls are clad in T-111 siding.  The foundation is post on pier.  The building is in good condition.

Ski Patrol Hut.  This is a small, rectangular, one-story frame building with a front-gable roof covered with wood shingles over boards.  The walls are clad in lapped horizontal boards, with vertical board and batten in the gable ends.  Fenestration consists of wood frame:  individual, 1/1 lights, and a modern window with one light. Primary entry is via a solid wood 6-panel door on the north primary façade. The foundation is post on wood pier, with a peeled log supporting the center portion.  The front porch is no longer extant, and the building is in poor condition.   

Conclusions

The features were evaluated under the eligibility criteria for inclusion in the NRHP found at 36 CFR Part 60.4, evaluating historical significance.

Integrity.  Significance assessments involve establishing the integrity of the historic resources.  This is determined by seven criteria:  location, design, setting, workmanship, materials, feeling, and association.  

Location:  The lodge building, while in its original location, has been altered over the ensuing years since its construction and is no longer a part of the original Homewood Resort complex. The ski school building is not in its original location, as it was moved to the site from the Callender complex to the south. The ski patrol hut remains in its original location.

Design:  The lodge building was originally designed as a shopping complex and has been remodeled and added on to at least twice. The ski school building was originally built as a “honeymoon cottage” in the Callender Hotel complex, and two additions have been made to the rear elevation since it was moved to its present site. 

Setting:  The setting of the Homewood Resort has been drastically altered since its original construction, as the Homewood Hotel and cabins have been demolished, the store has been remodeled as the ski lodge, and the surrounding level landscape has been covered with asphalt to create parking for skiers. 

Workmanship and Materials:  Although the primary portions of the buildings retain their original materials and workmanship, the lodge and ski school buildings have undergone additions and alterations over the ensuing years and no longer retain integrity.

Feeling and Association:  The lodge building was erected in the 1940s as a shopping complex, while the ski school building was moved to the site and converted from a resort cottage. They were developed into a small-scale ski resort in the 1960s, and remodeled and expanded over the ensuing years. Their feeling and association are only related to later skiing operations. 

Evaluation.  The architectural resources located in the Homewood Ski Resort North Base Project Area do not appear eligible for listing on the NRHP under any of the criteria, or to be historical resources for the purposes of CEQA or TRPA.  Under Criterion A/1, although the complex is associated with ski resort expansion and development in the 1960s in the Lake Tahoe Basin, it does not appear to be a significant part of that expansion, nor is it associated with any persons important in history (Criterion B/2).  Under Criterion C/3, although erected in the 1940s, the buildings are typical examples of common resource types, not the work of a master, nor do they possess high artistic values.  They are also lacking in integrity, with modern additions to the ski lodge (original store building) and ski school (original Callender honeymoon cottage, moved to site), and ski patrol hut, as well as window replacements in all three buildings, modern T-111 siding on the rear of the lodge and ski school, and various other alterations. Neither the complex nor the individual architectural resources appear eligible for listing under Criterion D/4. 

Recommendations

Although the ski school building (No. 2) does not appear eligible for listing on the historical registers under any of the applicable legal criteria, it is well loved by the residents of Homewood, as well as by those who have visited the ski resort over the years.  It is also the only remnant of the Callender honeymoon cottages; therefore it is recommended that the original front (east) portion of the building be moved to an appropriate site within the proposed Homewood Village Resorts Project and restored to its original exterior appearance.  An appropriate location might be at the Homewood Mountain Resort skating rink or miniature golf areas, or at the adjacent Tahoe Maritime Museum.  
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